A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

This petition for reVIew IS filed on behalf of 

Plaintiff/Petitioner Anna Chester (Chester). 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Chester seeks review of the published Court of Appeals 

decision affirming summary judgment m favor of 

Defendants/Respondents Deep Roots Alderwood, LLC (Deep 

Roots), and Bonnie Gillson (Gillson). See Chester v. Deep Roots 

Alderwood, LLC,- Wn. App. -,- P.3d -, 2016 WL 1305200 (Wn. 

App., Div. I, Apr. 4, 2016). A copy of the decision is reproduced in 

the Appendix at pages A-1 to A-7. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

This action arises from severe personal injuries suffered by 

Chester after a licensed tattoo artist (Gillson) gave her a tattoo 

using non-sterile ink contaminated with disease-causing bacteria at 

a licensed tattoo parlor (Deep Roots). The Court of Appeals decision 

raises the following issues: 

1. Are tattoo artists and tattoo parlors subject to liability 
for negligence as a matter of law (negligence per se) 
under RCW 5-40.050(3) for use of non-sterile tattoo 
ink contaminated with disease-causing bacteria? In 
particular: 

a. Does the use of non-sterile tattoo ink 
contaminated with disease-causing bacteria 

1 



violate WAC 246-145-050(18), which prohibits 
the use of inks that are banned or restricted by 
the U.S. Food & Drug Administration (FDA), 
given that the federal Food, Drug & Cosmetic 
Act regulates tattoo ink as a "cosmetic," see 21 
U.S.C. § 321(i), prohibits the delivery or receipt 
of "adulterated" cosmetics in interstate 
commerce, see id. § 331(c), and deems a 
cosmetic to be adulterated if it contains any 
substance deleterious to human health such as 
bacteria, see id. § 361(a)-(c)? And/or: 

b. Does the use of non-sterile tattoo ink 
contaminated with disease-causing bacteria 
violate WAC 246-145-050(1), which requires 
the use of "sterile instruments and aseptic 
techniques at all times" during a tattoo 
procedure, where the phrase "aseptic 
technique" is defined to mean "a procedure 
that prevents contamination of any object or 
person," WAC 246-145-010(2), and the 
undisputed medical understanding of sterile 
instruments and aseptic techniques is 
incompatible with injecting non-sterile tattoo 
ink contaminated with disease-causing bacteria 
into a person's body? 

2. Does a licensed tattoo parlor have a non-delegable 
duty to comply with the foregoing requirements under 
WAC 308-22-020, which provides "[e]very licensee 
shall comply with the requirements established by the 
department of health under WAC 246-145-015, 246-
145-050, and 246-145-060"? 

3. Did the lower courts err in refusing to consider 
undisputed medical testimony that injecting non
sterile tattoo ink into a person's body is incompatible 
with "sterile instruments and aseptic techniques" 
required by WAC 246-145-050(1) and defined by 
WAC 246-145-010(2)? 
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4· Apart from issues of negligence per se under RCW 
5-40.050(3), should the Court hold that tattoo artists 
and tattoo parlors have a duty to use sterile tattoo ink 
grounded in simple negligence principles, even 
though the use of sterile ink does not appear to be 
standard in the tattoo industry? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On September 13, 2011, Chester received a tattoo from 

Gillson at Deep Roots' tattoo parlor. Gillson used non-sterile ink 

containing disease-causing bacteria to apply the tattoo. It appears 

that the bacterial contamination occurred during manufacture of 

the ink, and she did not have actual knowledge that the ink was 

contaminated. However, Gillson had a choice of either sterile or 

non-sterile ink, and used non-sterile ink. CP 210, 353, 359, 368, 

385, 393-97. The bacteria in the ink caused the destruction of 

Chester's kidneys at age 21. She now requires kidney dialysis for life 

or a kidney transplant. CP 253-55. 

Chester filed suit against Gillson and Deep Roots alleging 

both negligence per se under RCW 5-40.050(3) and simple 

negligence. The negligence per se statute provides in pertinent part: 

A breach of a duty imposed by statute, ordinance, or 
administrative rule shall not be considered negligence 
per se, but may be considered by the trier of fact as 
evidence of negligence; however, any breach of 
duty as provided by statute, ordinance, or 
administrative rule relating to ... sterilization 
of needles and instruments used by persons 
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engaged in the practice of body art, body 
piercing, tattooing, or electrology, or other 
precaution against the spread of disease, as 
required under RCW 70.54.350 ... shall be 
considered negligence per se. 

RCW 5-40.050(3) (ellipses & emphasis added). 1 

The "other precaution against the spread of disease" 

referenced in the negligence per se statute incorporates regulations 

adopted by the Department of Health governing the tattoo industry. 

See RCW 70.54.350(1). 2 The regulations are based in part on 

consideration of "standard precautions for infection control, as 

recommended by the United States centers for disease control[.]" 

RCW 70.54.340. They codify what are described as "universal 

precautions" that must be used by persons licensed to practice 

tattooing. WAC 246-145-050.3 

One such precaution is that "[i]nks or pigments must not be 

banned or restricted by the FDA[.]" WAC 246-145-050(18) 

(brackets & ellipses added). The federal Food, Drug & Cosmetic Act 

bans and restricts tattoo ink contaminated with bacteria. The Act 

1 The full text of RCW 5-40.050 is reproduced in the Appendix. 

2 The full text of RCW 70.54.350 is reproduced in the Appendix. 

3 The full text of WAC 246-145-050 is reproduced in the Appendix. 
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regulates tattoo ink as a cosmetic, 4 and bans and restricts the 

delivery or receipt of adulterated cosmetics.s Under the Act, 

adulterated cosmetics include those contaminated with bacteria. 6 

Another universal precaution against the spread of disease 

applicable to tattoo artists and tattoo parlors in the State of 

Washington is the requirement to "[u]se sterile instruments and 

4 See 21 U.S.C. § 321(i) (defining "cosmetic" to mean "(1) articles intended to be 
rubbed, poured, sprinkled, or sprayed on, introduced into, or otherwise applied 
to the human body or any part thereof for cleansing, beautifying, promoting 
attractiveness, or altering the appearance, and (2) articles intended for use as a 
component of any such articles"); see also U.S. Food & Drug Administration, 
Tattoos & Permanent Makeup: Fact Sheet (Aug. 22, 2012) (stating "FDA 
considers the inks used in intradermal tattoos ... to be cosmetics"; ellipses 
added). The full text of 21 U.S.C. § 321 and the FDA Fact Sheet are reproduced in 
the Appendix. 

s See 21 U.S.C. § 331(a) & (c) (prohibiting "[t]he introduction or delivery for 
introduction into interstate commerce of any ... cosmetic that is adulterated" and 
"the receipt in interstate commerce of any ... cosmetic that is adulterated ... and 
the delivery or proffered delivery thereof for pay or otherwise"; brackets & 
ellipses added). Delivery and receipt of an adulterated cosmetic are distinguished 
from the act of adulteration itself. See 21 U.S.C. § 331(b). The full text of 21 U.S.C. 
§ 331 is reproduced in the Appendix. 

6 21 U.S.C. § 361(a)-(c) (providing "[a] cosmetic shall be deemed to be 
adulterated-(a) If it bears or contains any poisonous or deleterious substance 
which may render it injurious to users under the conditions of use prescribed in 
the labeling thereof, or under such conditions of use as are customary or usual .... 
(b) If it consists in whole or in part of any filthy, putrid, or decomposed 
substance. (c) If it has been prepared, packed, or held under insanitary 
conditions whereby it may have become contaminated with filth, or whereby it 
may have been rendered injurious to health"; brackets & ellipses added); see also 
U.S. Food & Drug Administration, Warning Letter to Gemdo Cosmetics Inc. (Apr. 
16, 2015) (stating presence of bacteria in cosmetics causes these products to be 
considered adulterated within the meaning of 21 U.S.C. § 361); U.S. Food & Drug 
Administration, Warning Letter to Vienna Beauty Products (May 17, 2012) 
(similar); U.S. Food & Drug Administration, Warning Letter to Carrington 
Laboratories, Inc. (Dec. 5, 2005) (similar); U.S. Food & Drug Administration, 
Warning Letter to The Master's Miracle, Inc. (June 9, 2005) (similar). The full 
text of 21 U.S.C. § 361 and the cited FDA Warning Letters regarding bacterial 
contamination of cosmetics are reproduced in the Appendix. 
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aseptic techniques at all times during a procedure." WAC 246-145-

050(1) (brackets added). The phrase "aseptic technique" is defined 

to mean "a procedure that prevents contamination of any object or 

person." WAC 246-145-010(2).? Chester submitted undisputed 

testimony from her treating physician, whose qualifications were 

not challenged, that the concepts of "sterile" and "aseptic 

technique" are well known in the medical community, and that 

these concepts are incompatible with injecting non-sterile tattoo ink 

into a person's body. See CP 366-97. 

The superior court dismissed Chester's negligence per se and 

simple negligence claims against Gillson and Deep Roots on 

summary judgment, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. The 

appellate court determined that Chester did not state a negligence 

per se claim based on FDA restrictions on adulterated cosmetics 

because: 

the FDCA does not create a private right of action. 21 
U.S.C. § 337. Furthermore, the Act does not impose 
penalties on retailers who deliver adulterated 
cosmetics in good faith. 21 U.S.C. § 333(c). 

Chester, 2016 WL 1305200, at * 4. The court did not explain why 

the lack of a private right of action or the existence of a partial 

7 The full text of WAC 246-145-010 is reproduced in the Appendix. 
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defense to certain regulatory actions by the FDA should eliminate 

negligence per se liability. s The court did not acknowledge that the 

good faith defense to civil penalties does not extend to criminal 

liability,9 nor does it eliminate the FDA's restrictions on adulterated 

cosmetics such as tattoo ink contaminated with disease-causing 

bacteria. 10 

The court further determined that Chester did not state a 

negligence per se claim based on the regulation requiring the use of 

sterile instruments and aseptic technique because this requirement 

does not, in the court's estimation, entail a duty to use sterile ink. 

8 WAC 246-145-050(18) adopts FDA standards for banning and restricting 
adulterated tattoo ink. It does not adopt FDA standards for regulatory actions or 
defenses thereto. 
9 See, e.g., United States v. Park, 421 U.S. 658, 672-73 (1975) (indicating 21 
U.S.C. § 331 "does not ... make criminal liability turn on 'awareness of some 
wrongdoing' or 'conscious fraud"'; ellipses added); United States v. Torigian 
Labs., Inc., 577 F. Supp. 1514, 1526 (E.D.N.Y.) (stating "criminal penalties attach 
to any person who causes a violation under 21 U.S.C. § 331" and "criminal liability 
attaches without any proof of intent, knowledge, or awareness of wrongdoing," 
citing Park, supra), affd without op., 751 F.2d 373 (2d Cir. 1984). 

10 In a footnote earlier in its opinion, the court incorrectly stated that "[t]he FDA 
does not require that tattoo inks be sterile." Chester, at *2 n.2 (citing Centers for 
Disease Control, Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Report (MMWR), Tattoo
Associated Nontuberculous Mycobacterial Skin Infections-Multiple States, 2011-
12 (Aug. 24, 2012), vol. 61, no. 33, 653-656). The MMWR, which is reproduced in 
the Appendix, is from a different agency (the CDC rather than the FDA), is not 
legally authoritative, and does not establish the proposition for which it is cited. 
The MMWR actually says: "No specific FDA regulatory requirement explicitly 
provides that tattoo inks must be sterile." MMWR, at 653 & 655 (emphasis 
added). The requirement is arguably implicit in the prohibition of adulterated 
cosmetics. In any event, the problem with the ink used on Chester was not simply 
that it was non-sterile, but also that it was adulterated with disease-causing 
bacteria. The court did not dispute that cosmetics adulterated with disease
causing bacteria are specifically and explicitly banned and restricted by the FDA. 
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See Chester, at *3. In reaching this conclusion, the court rejected 

the undisputed medical testimony regarding the meaning of 

"sterile" and "aseptic technique" as legal conclusions. See id., at *s-

6. 

Lastly, the court rejected Chester's simple negligence claim 

on grounds that the apparent standard of the tattoo industry does 

not require the use of sterile ink, and "Chester has not shown that 

sterile ink was widely available at the time in question, that claims 

of sterility were reliable, or that tattoo artists had the means to test 

ink for contamination and sterilize it on site." Chester, at *4. The 

court did not otherwise dispute that sterile ink was available for 

purchase by tattoo artists and tattoo parlors, nor did it elaborate on 

how widely it would have to be available or how reliably sterile it 

would have to be to give rise to a tort duty. See id. 

From the Court of Appeals decision, Chester timely seeks 

review in this Court. 

8 



E. ARGUMENT 
ACCEPTED 

WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 

1. The decision below conflicts with precedent 
from this Court regarding the relationship 
between a statutory cause of action and 
negligence per se, creating uncertainty 
regarding the effect of a violation of a statute 
or regulation in any negligence case. 

Negligence per se means negligence as a matter of law based 

upon violation of a statute or regulation. See Kness v. Truck Trailer 

Equip. Co., 81 Wn. 2d 251, 255, 501 P.2d 285 (1972); see also 6 

Wash. Prac., Wash. Pattern Jury Instr. Civ. WPI 60.01.01 (6th ed.).11 

The Court of Appeals decision below ties negligence per se liability 

to the existence of a "private right of action" for violation of a 

statute or regulation. Chester, at * 4. This conflicts with the Court's 

decision in Mina v. Boise Cascade Corp., 104 Wn. 2d 696, 703-04, 

710 P.2d 184 (1985), addressing the relationship between 

negligence per se liability and a private right of action. 

Mina involved a claim of negligence per se arising from 

violation of former RCW 46.61.560, which prohibited stopping a 

vehicle on the roadway outside of incorporated cities and towns. See 

id., 104 Wn. 2d at 703 n.1 (quoting statute). In the course of its 

opinion, the Court stated: 

11 The negligence per se pattern jury instruction, WPI 60.01.01, is reproduced in 
the Appendix. 
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Although RCW 46.61.560 does not provide for a 
private cause of action, this court has long held that a 
violation of a traffic statute can constitute negligence 
per se. Portland-Seattle Auto Freight, Inc. v. Jones, 15 
Wash.2d 603, 131 P.2d 736 (1942); Engelker v. Seattle 
Elec. Co., 50 Wash. 196, 96 P. 1039 (1908). In 
utilizing the doctrine of negligence per se, a 
court will substitute a statutory standard of 
conduct for the less restrictive common law 
standard of reasonableness even though the 
legislative enactment does not explicitly 
apply to a private suit. Herberg v. Swartz, 89 
Wash.2d 916, 922, 578 P.2d 17 (1978). See generally 
Thayer, Public Wrong and Private Action, 27 
Harv.L.Rev. 317 (1914). 

Id. at 703-04 (citations in original; emphasis added). This 

quotation directly contradicts the decision below. 

The quoted language from Mina represents a holding 

because the Court's recognition that the existence of a private right 

of action is not a prerequisite to negligence per se liability was 

essential to its subsequent analysis of whether negligence per se 

liability applied to the facts of that particular case. See id. at 704-07. 

While the analysis of the applicability of negligence per se liability 

in Mina, based on the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 286 (1965), 

appears to have been superseded by the enactment of the 

negligence per se statute, RCW 5-40.050, nothing in the statute 

supersedes the Court's discussion of the relationship between a 

private right of action and negligence per se liability. On the 
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contrary, the statute expressly incorporates the phrase "negligence 

per se," indicating that the legislature intended to preserve the 

common law concept of negligence per se liability even while it 

limited its application to cases such as this one. See Rettkowski v. 

Department of Ecology, 128 Wn. 2d 508, 518, 910 P.2d 462 (1996) 

(stating "[w]hen a term is well known to the common law, the 

Legislature is presumed to have intended the term to mean what it 

was understood to mean at common law"; brackets added). 

The conflict between the decision below and Mina warrants 

review under RAP 13-4(b)(1). In addition, the potential for 

confusion resulting from the decision below is an issue of 

substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court 

under RAP 13-4(b)(4). Other than the decision below, Chester has 

been able to identify no other reported decision in the State of 

Washington hinging negligence per se liability upon the existence of 

a private right of action. There is no reason for negligence per se 

liability in cases where a private right of action is otherwise 

available for the same violation of a statute or regulation, and the 

effect of the decision below is to effectively eliminate negligence per 

se liability. Moreover, the decision below even calls into question 

whether any violation of a statute or regulation can serve as 
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evidence of negligence under the negligence per se statute, in the 

absence of a private right of action. The Court should accept review 

to resolve this uncertainty.12 

2. The decision below conflicts with precedent 
from this Court regarding the interpretation 
of technical terms and terms of art in statutes 
and regulations. 

The Court of Appeals below declined to consider undisputed 

testimony from Chester's treating physician regarding the meaning 

of sterile instruments and aseptic technique within the medical 

community, and on de novo review affirmed the superior court's 

decision striking portions of the testimony. Chester, at *s-6. This 

conflicts with this Court's precedent regarding the interpretation of 

technical terms and terms of art in statutes and regulations. For 

example, in State v. Nw. Magnesite Co., 28 Wn. 2d 1, 48 & 57, 182 

P.2d 643 (1947), a case involving interpretation of former Rem. 

Rev. Stat. § 8025, requiring payment of royalties for mining on 

12 The Court of Appeals decision below also tied the existence of negligence per se 
liability to a good faith defense to civil penalties under 21 U.S.C. § 331(c). As 
noted above, this is not a defense to a violation of the Food, Drug & Cosmetic Act, 
only certain civil penalties. In any event, this defense is irrelevant to the grounds 
for negligence per se liability in this case, namely that the non-sterile ink 
contaminated with disease-causing bacteria used by Gillson and Deep Roots on 
Chester is an adulterated cosmetic banned and restricted by the FDA. See WAC 
246-145-050(18). The only defense to negligence per se liability appears to be 
justification or excuse, i.e., the violation of a statute or regulation "is not 
negligence if it is due to some cause beyond the violator's control that ordinary 
care could not have guarded against." WPI 60.01.01. 

12 



public land less "costs of transportation and treatment," the Court 

explained why it is necessary to consider expert testimony 

regarding the meaning of technical terms and terms of art: 

It now becomes necessary to determine the meaning 
of the words 'transportation' and 'treatment' 
mentioned in the statute. The meaning of the words, 
they not having been defined by the legislature, do not 
admit of statutory construction, but must be shown by 
evidence. That knowledge must be obtained from the 
evidence of men learned in the profession or business 
of mining and quarrying. Judges are not chemists, 
scientists, geologists, or botanists. They are not 
experts in the field of lumbering, agriculture, mining, 
electricity, or any of numerous activities of life in 
which men and women devote their entire time to the 
study of one enterprise. Judges devote their entire life 
study to applying the principles of law to factual 
situations, and to the interpretation of statutes. The 
courts of the United States are unanimous in holding 
that the information relative to the meaning of 
undefined words in a statute must be obtained from 
experts in the business or work under consideration. 
Technical words, or terms of art relating to trade, 
when used in the statute dealing with the subject 
matter of such trade, are to be taken in their technical 
sense. Sutherland, Statutory Construction, 3d Ed., vol. 
2, p. 437, § 4919; so Am.Jur. 438, § 413. 

(Citations in original.) This rule is well-attested in many of this 

Court's cases, including cases involving the interpretation of 

medical words or phrases used in a statute. See Gorre v. City of 

Tacoma, 184 Wn. 2d 30, 36-39, 357 P.3d 625 (2015) (interpreting 

"respiratory disease" in RCW 51.32.185(1)(a) according to medical 

meaning, rather than ordinary meaning). The same rules of 
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interpretation apply to regulations as well as statutes. See Demetrio 

v. Sakuma Bros. Farms, Inc., 183 Wn. 2d 649, 655, 355 P.3d 258 

(2015). 

The Court of Appeals' refusal to consider undisputed medical 

testimony regarding the meaning of "sterile instruments and 

aseptic technique" in this case conflicts with the foregoing 

authority, warranting review under RAP 13-4(b)(1). Chester's 

treating health care provider attested to the fact recognized in the 

medical community (which also coincides with common sense) that 

an instrument ceases to be "sterile" when it is dipped into or filled 

with a non-sterile and contaminated substance, and a technique 

ceases to be "aseptic" when it involves injecting a non-sterile and 

contaminated substance into a person's body. 

Consideration of such testimony is consistent with the 

regulations governing the tattoo industry in Washington. The 

regulations were prompted by health concerns stemming from the 

risk of infecting those receiving tattoos with blood-borne 

pathogens. See RCW 70.54.320. The regulations presume that 

tattoos are performed using nontoxic ink. 13 The regulations are 

13 See RCW 70.54·330(4) (defining "[t]attooing" to mean "the indelible mark, 
figure, or decorative design introduced by insertion of nontoxic dyes or pigments 
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expressly based on consideration of "standard precautions for 

infection control, as recommended by the United States centers for 

disease control[.]" RCW 70.54.340. The regulations "establish 

standard universal precautions for preventing the spread of 

diseases by using sterilization procedures and infection control in 

the practices of ... tattooing." WAC 246-145-001; see also WAC 246-

145-010(2) (defining "aseptic technique" in terms of "a procedure 

that prevents contamination of any object or person"; emphasis 

added). The regulations use technical medical words and phrases 

such as "sterile" and "aseptic technique." WAC 246-145-050(1). The 

Court should accept review to confirm that expert medical 

testimony regarding these terms is properly considered under the 

circumstances. 

3· The question of whether tattoo artists and 
tattoo parlors should have a tort duty to use 
sterile ink presents a substantial question of 
public interest that should be decided by this 
Court. 

The Court of Appeals below declined to recognize a duty 

grounded in simple negligence principles to use sterile ink when 

performing a tattoo. This presents an issue of substantial public 

interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 

into or under the subcutaneous portion of the skin upon the body of a live human 
being for cosmetic or figurative purposes"; emphasis added).

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