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

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With 
Washington Law Regarding the Doctrine of Negligence Per Se. 

Washington law prohibits negligence per se in nearly all 

circumstances. "A breach of a duty imposed by statute, ordinance, or 

administrative rule shall not be considered negligence per se." RCW 

5.40.050. The only exceptions to this prohibition of the negligence per se 

doctrine are the private causes of action that the State Legislature carved 

out in RCW 5.40.050(1)-(4). 

Relevant here, RCW 5.40.050(3) creates a negligence per se cause 

of action for the breach of any duty provided by statute or administrative 

rule relating to the "sterilization of needles and instruments used by 

persons engaged in the practice of body art, body piercing, tattooing, or 

electrology, or other precaution against the spread of disease as required 

under RCW 70.54.350." After thoroughly analyzing various regulations 

and statutes falling within RCW 5.40.050(3), the Court of Appeals 

properly concluded that Chester failed to show a regulatory or statutory 

duty to use sterile ink, and, consequently, her negligence per se claims 

pursuant to RCW 5.40.050(3) fail as a matter of law. Chester at* 1-*4. 

There is no conflict or confusion arising out of the Court of 

Appeals' negligence per se analysis. 21 U.S.C. § 331(c), relied upon by 
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Chester, is not subject to RCW 5.40.050(3) and does not provide for a 

private cause of action. Furthermore, the Court properly recognized that 

Gillson acted in good faith, a defense to a purported violation of 21 U.S.C. 

§ 331(c). 

1. Because 21 U.S.C. § 331(c) Is Not Related to Washington's 
Regulatory Scheme for the Tattoo Industry, RCW 
5.40.050(3) Does Not Apply. 

Chester erroneously argues that WAC 246-145-050(18), which 

states that tattoo "[i]nks or pigments must not be banned or restricted by 

the FDA," adopts 21 U.S.C. § 331(c). Section 331 is a federal criminal 

statute allowing the United States (and, under some circumstances, 

individual states) to prosecute certain "acts and the causing thereof," 

including "[t]he receipt in interstate commerce of any food, drug, device, 

tobacco product, or cosmetic that is adulterated or misbranded, and the 

delivery or proffered delivery thereof for pay or otherwise."8 21 U.S.C. 

§ 331 (c). The statute defines and classifies certain actions as crimes; it 

does not ban or restrict products, nor does it contain any ink sterilization 

requirements. 21 U.S.C. § 331(c) is not a tattooing precaution required by 

RCW 70.54.350, and it is therefore not subject to the negligence per se 

doctrine under RCW 5.40.050(3). 

8 Neither Respondent was a product seller of the tattoo ink, and 
neither "delivered" it to Chester. 
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2. The Court Correctly Noted That 21 U.S.C. § 331(c) Does 
Not Create a Private Cause of Action. 

As the Court of Appeals noted, § 3 31 (c) does not provide for a 

private cause of action. Chester at *4. 21 U.S.C. § 337 explicitly and 

affirmatively states that there is no private cause of action for a violation 

of21 U.S.C. § 331(c), expressly evidencing a legislative intent that 

individual remedies are not allowed. Resp. App. p. 7; see also Buckman 

Co. v. Plaintiffs' Legal Comm., 531 U.S. 341, 353 (2001) (state law tort 

claims based solely on violations of the FDCA are preempted by federal 

law). 

In Mina v. Boise Cascade Corp., 104 Wn.2d 696, 703-04, 710 P.2d 

184 (1985), upon which Chester relies, this Court confirmed that a private 

cause of action was not a precursor to the utilization of the doctrine of 

negligence per se. However, the next year, Washington's Tort Reform 

Act went into effect, and RCW 5.40.050 abrogated the "idea that a 

plaintiff could recover by showing either the applicability and breach of a 

statutory duty, or the existence and breach of the common law duty of 

reasonable care." Templeton v. Daffern, 98 Wn. App. 677, 684, 990 P.2d 

968 (2000). 

The Court of Appeals' opinion does not "effectively eliminate[] 

negligence per se." Pet. for Rev. p. 11. The Washington Legislature has 
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already done so. No longer may a court apply the negligence per se 

doctrine and substitute a statutory standard of conduct even though the 

legislative enactment does not explicitly apply to a private suit. 

Templeton, 98 Wn. App. at 687 ("[b]ecause of RCW 5.40.050 []plaintiffs 

cannot prevail based on a statutory violation alone"). The Court of 

Appeals' opinion applied the negligence per se doctrine to tattooing 

statutes and regulations consistently with RCW 5.40.050. 

3. The Court Correctly Noted the Good Faith Exception to 21 
U.S.C. § 331(c). 

The Court of Appeals properly noted the good faith exception to 

21 U.S.C. § 331(c), which is consistent with the ordinary care defense to 

the negligence per se doctrine. 9 See Chester at *4; WPI 60.01.01. 

9 Chester misreads 21 U.S.C. § 333(c). The good faith defense 
contained therein absolves a party who receives and delivers adulterated 
products from both criminal and civil penalties, but not the party who 
introduces the adulterated product into interstate commerce. 21 U.S.C. 
App. § 333(c). Resp. App. p. 2. This is because 21 U.S.C. § 333(c) was 
"designed to protect innocent dealers who receive goods shipped in 
interstate commerce," not those who adulterate products. United States v. 
Parfait Powder Puff Co., 163 F.2d 1008, 1010 (7th Cir. 1947). The 
Senate passed 21 U.S.C. § 333(c) to safeguard and protect "the innocent 
dealer who distributes goods he has received from interstate sources [ ... ] 
thus allowing the prosecution to lie solely against the guilty shipper." /d. 
(citing Senate Report No. 493, 73d Cong.2d Sess., accompanying S. 
2800). 

The cases relied upon by Chester are not controlling. In United 
States v. Park, 421 U.S. 658, 672-73 (1975), the defendant was prosecuted 
under 21 U.S.C. § 331(k), not§ 331(c), and the good faith defense in 21 
U.S.C. § 333(c) was not at issue. See also United States v. Torigian Labs, 
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Chester agrees that the ink was not adulterated by Gillson. She has failed 

to show any evidence that problems with bacteria contamination in tattoo 

ink was commonly known throughout the tattoo industry, that Kingpin had 

warned Respondents or other tattooists of customer complaints regarding 

the ink at issue, or that Gillson's receipt and use of the ink should have 

indicated that the ink was contaminated. Considering that Chester has 

failed to show a lack of ordinary care or good faith, Chester's argument 

regarding the application of21 U.S.C. § 331(c) to Respondents is futile. 

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Conflict With 
Washington Law Regarding the Rules of Statutory 
Interpretation and Expert Witness Testimony. 

The Court of Appeals' exclusion of portions of Dr. Dinges's 

opinion is consistent with well-settled law that statutory interpretation is a 

question of law for the courts. See Jewels v. City of Bellingham, 183 

Wn.2d 388, 394, 353 P.3d 204 (2015). The meaning of the terms within a 

statute may certainly come from the statute, a dictionary, legislative 

history, or, in the case of technical terms, testimony. Gorre v. City of 

Tacoma, 184 Wn.2d 30, 37, 357 P.3d 625 (2015). However, regardless of 

the source, the court, not a witness, determines the meaning and effect of 

the rule or statute to carry out legislative intent. Gorre, 184 Wn.2d at 41. 

Inc., 577 F. Supp. 1514, 1526 (E.D.N.Y. 1984) (violations of21 U.S.C. 
§ 331(a), (k); 21 U.S.C. § 333(c) not at issue). 
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WAC 246-145-050(1) requires that a tattoo artist "[u]se sterile 

instruments and aseptic techniques at all times during a procedure." 10 Dr. 

Dinges attempts to discern the Department's intent in the following 

sections of his opinion: 

Regardless of the credentials of the person performing the 
injection, the requirement to "use sterile instruments ... 
at all times during a procedure" seems unambiguous to 
me. The only meaning that I can attach to that rule is 
that, if a tattoo artist inserts into a customer, by way of 
an instrument, understood to be a needle used to 
penetrate the surface of the skin, ink that is contaminated 
with bacteria, then clearly "sterile instruments" were not 
used at all times during the procedure because the 
instrument, meaning the instrument used to penetrate the 
customer's skin, was contaminated with bacteria. 

To ensure sterile instruments and aseptic technique 
throughout the procedure, the procedure has to start with 
sterile tattoo ink. 

CP 370 (emphases added). 

As the Court of Appeals recognized, Dr. "Dinges does not merely 

explain the term 'sterile' or state that a tattoo needle is no longer sterile 

after it has come into contact with contaminated ink. Dinges states that it 

'seems unambiguous' that by requiring 'sterile instruments' the regulation 

10 "Aseptic technique" is defined in WAC 246-145-01 0(2). 
"Sterile" is not defined, although both "sterilization" and "sterilizer" are. 
WAC 245-145-010(23)-(24). 
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prohibits the use of non-sterile ink." Chester at *6. Dr. Dinges "goes 

beyond explaining the term. The challenged statement includes Dinges's 

opinion that the regulation requiring the use of sterile instruments and 

aseptic technique includes an unstated requirement to use sterile ink." 11 

!d. at 7. 

The Court of Appeals' holding does not conflict with the cases 

cited in Chester's Petition for Review. The witnesses in State v. Nw. 

Magnesite Co., 28 Wn.2d 1, 34-36, 182 P.2d 643 (1947) opined whether 

the activity at the mine was "treatment" (facts), but the Court determined 

whether the statute allowed a deduction for the activity (law). Likewise, 

the expert witness in Gorre opined whether valley fever is a respiratory 

disease (facts), but the Court determined whether the statute allowed for 

workers' compensation benefits for valley fever. Gorre, 184 Wn.2d at 36 

n.2, 40. It is for a court, not Dr. Dinges, to determine whether the 

tattooing regulations require the use of sterile ink. 12 

11 In properly exercising its authority to construct statutes, the 
Court of Appeals disagreed with Dr. Dinges's interpretation of WAC 246-
145-050( 1) because "it is not reasonable to conclude that the secretary 
intended the use of sterile ink but couched that duty within the 
requirement to use sterile instruments and aseptic technique." Chester at 
*3. 

12 Although Chester argues that Dr. Dinges is qualified to testify 
as to the use of sterile ink because the Washington Legislature instructed 
the Department to "consider" guidelines from the CDC, the Legislature 
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C. The Court Should Decline Chester's Request for the Judicial 
Adoption of a Sterile Ink Requirement. 

Given that there is no statutory, industry standard, or other 

common law duty to use sterile ink, Chester asks this Court to depart from 

its typical judicial role in order to create a standard of care where there 

previously was none. The imposition of a sterile ink requirement should 

be directed by the State Legislature or the Secretary of Health, which 

already regulate the Washington tattoo industry, or the federal 

government, which already regulates the manufacture and sale of tattoo 

ink. 13 

actually ordered that the Department's rules "shall" be "in accordance 
with nationally recognized professional standards ... employed by [ ... ] 
tattoo artists." RCW 70.54.340. "This [CDC] instruction to the secretary 
does not impose CDC or other medical standards on tattoo artists. The 
secretary of health and medical professionals may share an understanding 
of sterility, as Chester asserts, but the secretary did not promulgate 
regulations imposing medical standards on tattoo artists." Chester at *7. 
Dr. Dinges is not an expert in tattooing. /d. 

13 Chester's request is similar to the request in Burkhart v. Harrod, 
110 Wn.2d 381, 385-86,755 P.2d 759 (1988), wherein the plaintiff 
advocated for the adoption of social host liquor liability. This Court 
refused to do so because such a decision "requires a balancing of the costs 
and benefits for society as a whole, not just the parties of any one case. 
Yet because judicial decisionmaking is limited to resolving only the issues 
before the court in any given case, judges are limited in their abilities to 
obtain the input necessary to make informed decisions" on issues of 
"broad public policy questions." /d. at 385. 
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Chester, the party advocating for the adoption of a judicially-

created standard of care, has not provided this Court with the information 

necessary to conclude that the risks of non-sterile tattoo ink outweigh the 

burden of sterile ink. Glaringly missing is any evidence that the health 

risks from ink that is not marketed as sterile are greater than the health 

risks from ink that is marketed as sterile, or that the risk of harm from 

tattoo ink is greater than the risk of harm from other product defects. 14 

Conversely, Chester has not provided evidence to counter the known 

burdens and challenges to the effective use of sterile ink. 15 

Finally, Chester ignores longstanding Washington law that places 

legal responsibility for product safety on manufacturers precisely because 

manufacturers are in the best position to investigate the design, 

manufacturing, and testing of the products that they place into the stream 

14 Chester has not shown the probability of bacterial 
contamination in ink marketed as sterile versus non-sterile, the percentage 
of tattoo customers at risk, the likelihood of injury from bacteria versus 
other causes (i.e. bloodbome pathogens or unsafe chemicals), or that the 
severity of injury from bacteria is greater than other causes. The FDA 
states that there has been a "previous lack of evidence of safety problems 
specifically associated with these [ink] pigments," and the CDC call 
harmful mycobacterial outbreaks "rare." Pet. App. pp. A-41, A-60. 

15 Chester has not shown that sterile ink was widely available at 
the time of Chester's tattoo, that manufacturer claims of sterility were 
reliable, or that tattoo artists had the means to test for and/or sterilize ink. 
See Chester at *5. 
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of commerce. Chester is not left without legal redress here; she has strict 

liability claims against the ink manufacturer. 

V. CONCLUSION 

The Court of Appeals properly concluded that "Chester has not 

established that the respondents' duty of reasonable care required them to 

use sterile ink." Chester at *5. This Court should decline review of the 

Court of Appeals' decision; or, if accepted, should affirm the trial court's 

dismissal of Chester's claims against Respondents.